#### BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DERRICK TURNER

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-KA-0330

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that Justices in this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal:

- 1. Derrick Turner, Appellant;
- 2. Sanford Knott, counsel for Appellant;
- 3. Forrest Allgood, Assistant District Attorney of Oktibbeha County, Mississippi, counsel for State;
- 4. The Honorable Lee J. Howard, Circuit Judge for trial of <u>State vs.</u> Turner

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

AND NOW the Appellant, Derrick Turner, puts forth the following issues for review:

**ISSUE NO. 1:** WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT SETTING ASIDE THE JURY VERDICT FOR INSUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE?

**ISSUE NO. 2:** WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S IMPEACHMENT INSTRUCTION?

ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S INSTRUCTION REQUIRING ACQUITTAL WHERE ACCOMPLICE'S TESTIMONY WAS IMPEACHED, UNREASONABLE, OR SELF-CONTRADICTORY?

**ISSUE NO. 4:** WHETHER THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Court is called upon to review the alleged errors of the trial court proceedings in a capital murder case arising out of Oktibbeha County, Mississippi. The trial, which took place from November 3 to 6, 2008, ended in a conviction and life sentence without possibility of parole against the accused, Derrick Turner. Following the denial of the post-trial motion to set aside the conviction on February 5, 2009, an appeal was timely filed raising concerns about rejected jury instructions and the sufficiency and weight of the evidence. Now, this Court is asked to reverse the conviction and discharge Mr.

Turner, the Appellant, or in alternative, grant him a new trial.

On the morning of August 20, 2001, firefighters were called to 226 Reed Road in Starkville, Mississippi about a house fire. What they discovered inside the residence, *inter alia*, was the body of Juanita Miller who was barely alive. Mrs. Miller had lived with her husband, Lee Miller, who testified that he left the residence at approximately 8:45 a.m. and visited, among other places, the car washes the two (2) owned. T. 135-136. When he returned at approximately 9:45 a.m., he found emergency and fire personnel present and smoke coming from the residence. The house was ransacked and approximately six hundred dollars (\$600.00) were stolen. T. 145. Mrs. Miller later died at the hospital.

Several fire personnel and investigators were called to testify by the State. Stewart

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 226 Reed Road is located on the corner of Reed Road and Westside Drive. Just across Westside Drive going north is a mobile home park called Lander's Trailer Park.

Teague, a fire fighter, testified that he and another rescuer entered the premises and discovered the blood soaked body of Mrs. Miller, and managed to pull her outside.

Realizing that she was still alive, he had the paramedics to attend her. Roger Mann, the Fire Marshall, testified that the fire was not accidental in nature and that there were at least six points of origin. Once the fire appeared to be an act of arson, the Starkville Police Department was called in and began the crime scene investigation. Kirk Rosehan, a fire behavior specialists, testified that the residence was equipped with smoke detectors which were activated and audible inside the house during the fire.

Investigator William Lott of the Starkville Police Department testified that after arriving at the residence that morning, he and his team began to put a list of suspects together who were known criminals in the area. That list did not include Derrick Turner (hereafter "Appellant). Sixty to ninety (i.e., 60 to 90) individuals were interviewed during the initial investigation including six (6) suspects, all of which were ruled out, except a Devail Hudson. The crime lab was called in, as well as, a search dog to scent out the trail of Hudson. However, no one with knowledge of the murder was found so the investigation stalled. T. 403. Later, a break in case occurred on January 6, 2002, when a Bentore Riley came to the police station and gave two (2) statements about his knowledge of the crime. Id. According to Lott, he admitted that he was a look-out when Devail Hudson, Derrick Turner, and others entered the residence of Mrs. Miller on August 20,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Dr. Stephen Hayes, who also testified, performed the autopsy on August 22, 2001 and ruled the death a homicide.

2001. On cross-examination, Lott admitted, however, that Riley lied to him at least four (4) times (T. 455), but that he, nevertheless, believed Riley's testimony that Appellant was involved because Riley came forward and voluntarily gave a statement even though law enforcement originally had no knowledge of his involvement. T. 457. Lott, also, testified that Turner gave inconsistent statements about his whereabouts on August 20, 2001. First, Turner, during an interview on January 14, 2001, said that on August 20, 2001, he was at work for a construction company, but he might have passed through or stopped near the area of Westside and Northside Drive. After verifying that Turner had not worked with the construction company on August 20, 2001, he was re-interviewed on February 13, 2002, at which time Turner, again, stated that on August 20, 2001, he was at work to the best of his knowledge. When advised that he did not begin working for the construction company until September 11, 2001, Lott testified that Turner's response was that he must have been at home asleep.<sup>3</sup> T. 422-429.

Jamie Bush of the Mississippi Crime Laboratory testified that he and two (2) other forensic scientists visited the Miller residence to examine abnormalities of the structure and fingerprints and found no sign of forced entry other than the front door that was entered by the Starkville Fire Department. T. 349.<sup>4</sup> After observing the sewing room and the spattering of blood found therein, Bush opined that the victim was bent over or either

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>An employee from Hodges Construction, Dina Addy, testified that Turner did work for the company in 2001, but did not begin employment until September 11, 2001. T. 460.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> There were, also, no fingerprints of value found. T. 349.

lying on the floor when she was struck, possibly, by an iron that was left and found to be covered in blood. Bush, also, testified that there were multiple suspects who caused damage to the house after noticing how the house was ransacked, drawers were pulled out, and money was left behind undiscovered. He, too, determined that there were six (6) separate fires set. However, Bush could not rule out that there could have been only one (1) or two (2) participants. T. 378.

Paulette Weible, a dog handler, testified for the State that on August 23, 2001 (i.e., three days after the incident), she was given an item of clothing belonging to suspect, Devail Hudson, in order for her bloodhound dog to scent and mark a trail. From a point on Lander's Trailer Park, the dog eventually led her to the back door of the Miller's residence, and thereafter, back to the trailer park to a mobile home belonging to Hudson's girlfriend. T. 388-391.

The State witness, Ms. Deanise Stephens, a former driver for Meals on Wheels, testified that on August 20, 2001, between 10:00 a.m. and 10:30 a.m., she delivered a meal to the grandmother of Destiny Moore, another suspect, and parked her vehicle on a steep curb on Westside Drive. After she entered her vehicle to leave, she attempted to pull in and turn around at Lander's Trailer Park to go back to her office. However, she could not initially do so because the area was blocked by four (4) or five (5) black males standing there talking. The only two that she recognized were Bentore Riley and Devail Hudson after seeing their pictures in the newspapers. T. 263-268.

The primary witness for the State was Bentore Riley who testified that six (6) males, including Derrick Turner, were involved in committing the murder of Juanita Miller. According to Riley, he was walking from his grandmother's house near the Miller's property toward the corner of Northside and Westside on the morning of August 20, 2001, when he saw Devail Hudson, Destiny Moore, Derrick Turner, and others at the corner talking. An argument between Riley and Moore ensued over some tennis shoes. When that ended, the group, lead by Hudson, began to talk about robbing the Miller's residence and killing Mrs. Miller if she were found to be in the house. T. 161. Then the other guys, with Riley being the look-out, left and entered the back door of the residence. Within seconds, thereafter, Derrick Turner ran out and fell to the ground and was followed by the others, minutes later. They all met at Lander's Trailer Park. On crossexamination, Riley testified, inter alia, that Devail Hudson re-entered the residence alone to kill Mrs. Miller and that he, Riley, was neither a look-out nor involved in the murder at all. R. 12-70. The trial court, however, permitted an instruction to the jury that Riley was an accomplice to the murder of Mrs. Miller. The jury later returned a verdict of guilty for capital murder against Appellant, Derrick Turner.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Juanita Miller was murdered on August 20, 2001, by intruders who had no right to enter her residence. The State's proof at trial rested on, principally, the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice, Bentore Riley. Without Riley's testimony, there was no

evidence or even a suggestion that Appellant was involved. When reviewing his testimony cautiously and suspiciously, the trial court erred in its finding that there was sufficient evidence to convict Appellant Turner. The rule of this Court that impeached, unreasonable, or self-contradictory evidence, could not support a conviction was not applied herein. This was evident given that the record illustrated that Riley was substantially impeached, and gave unreasonable and self-contradictory statements about who he was and the circumstances involved in this case. In the end, Appellant should have been discharged.

Even if not discharged, Appellant, was, nevertheless, entitled to an impeachment instruction that centered upon the false statements of Riley that were acknowledged by the State. While the trial court gave a general impeachment instruction, it did not go far enough to instruct the jury that it could disregard the witness who had lied. It was error for the trial court to refuse the proposed jury instruction which correctly stated the law, not otherwise covered by other instructions, and was supported by the evidence.

As a related issue to the previous "sufficiency of evidence" argument, Appellant's proposed jury instruction that the jury could not convict Turner if Riley's testimony was substantially impeached, unreasonable, or self-contradictory was improperly refused. The instruction, without question, was a correct statement of the law, was certainly not covered at all in any other instruction, and was supported by the evidence. Thus, the lower court committed an error.

Lastly, the weight of the evidence favored Appellant given the vast discrepancies in Riley's testimony. Riley testified, *inter alia*, that Devail Hudson entered the residence a second time after Appellant and others came out of the residence and that he knew that Hudson was going to kill Mrs. Miller. It should have been clear to the lower court that even if Appellant were present during the first visit, it was during the second visit of the residence, wherein, Mrs. Miller was killed. Furthermore, Turner presented alibi witnesses who corroborated that he was in Tupelo, Mississippi during the time of the home invasion.

Appellant, therefore, argues that because of the errors committed by the lower court, his conviction should be overturned.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# THE COURT ERRED IN NOT SETTING ASIDE THE JURY VERDICT DUE TO INSUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE

The use of Bentore Riley's testimony was insufficient to prove that Turner participated in the murder of Juanita Miller.

A directed verdict, preemptory instruction, and motion for judgement notwithstanding the verdict, all challenge the sufficiency of the evidence presented to the jury. Sneed v. State, 2007-KA-00381 (Miss. App. 8-252009) (citing Hawthorne v. State, 835 So. 2d 14, 21(Miss. 2003). When reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, "the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found reasonable doubt." Id.

In reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, it can be said based upon the evidence, that Mrs. Miller was murdered by more than one assailant who entered the Miller residence by the back door on the morning of August 20, 2001. The suspects set six (6) different fires hurriedly and left the residence towards Lander's Trailer Park. While the Millers had a substantial amount of money in the house that was left behind, approximately \$600.00 in cash was taken.

Bentore Riley's testimony, however, must be reviewed with great caution and suspicion given that the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice can not support a conviction if testimony is found to be unreasonable, self-contradictory, or substantially impeached. Riley v. State, 1 So.3d 877, 882 (Miss. App. 2008). Riley's testimony was uncorroborated. First, Riley claimed that he was walking towards the corner of Northside and Westside Drive the morning of August 20, 2001, when he came upon six (6) guys: Derrick Turner, Davail Hudson, and four (4) others. Hudson- according to Riley - led a discussion to rob the Miller's residence and expressed the intent to kill Mrs. Miller if she were found to be inside the residence. Next, all the guys, except Riley, ran into the house. Appellant came back out of the house within seconds. At some point thereafter, Hudson gave Turner a watch as his share of the cut. T. 163, R. 78.

There was no corroborative evidence on any material part of Riley's testimony.

The fact that Riley knew exactly which door the suspects entered was no great revelation.

Riley could have learned the point of entry through other sources, like the media given the

high profile nature of the case. Remember, Riley was not interviewed until five (5) months later, and on cross-examination, he admitted that he did not see the suspects open the back door to the Miller's residence. R. 37. Also, there was no witness that said that the Millers lost a watch or even saw Derrick Turner at any corner the morning of August, 20, 2001.<sup>5</sup> Given that there was no corroborative evidence that supported to Riley's testimony, the Court should look to see if Riley's testimony was substantially impeached, self-contradictory, or unreasonable.

#### A. Riley's testimony was impeached.

The record is replete with impeached and inconsistent testimony of Riley. Riley testified that no police officer talked with him on the day of the murder although he unsuccessfully tried to call law enforcement. T. 164,169. However, on cross-examination, Riley claimed that he called 911 twice. (R.39-40.), spoke with secretary (dispatcher), and reported that a burglary was in progress. R. 194. When law enforcement did not come, he called 911 again. This time law enforcement came out, interviewed him via a detective, and took a written statement from him. R. 38-40. Detective Lott of the Starkville Police Department, a witness called by the State, testified to just the opposite: the police department on August 20, 2001, did not interview Riley and received no 911 call. There was no record of Riley having talked with law enforcement at all that day. T. 400-403. As to a written

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Remember, Denise Stephens, only recognized Devail Hudson and Bentore Riley talking to other guys (unknown) at the entrance to Lander's Trailer Park. By contrast, Riley claimed that the guys were at the corner of Westside and Northside Drive talking.

statement by Riley, the prosecutor acknowledged that there was no additional written statement. T.197. When asked if he previously testified in State v. Devail Hudson, (the codefendant's trial) and if he had called and been interviewed by police, Riley answered that he had. (T.201). But after being shown the transcript of his testimony, he acknowledged that his call and being interviewed by the police were not contained therein. (T. 202-203). As to possible threats made against him, Riley testified that in his first written statement, he informed the police of the threats by the co-defendants. However, the first written statement contained no threats by anyone. R. 26. The same was true regarding Riley's testimony that he told the co-defendants "to go to hell," in response to their request for him to be a look-out. R. 32.

#### B. Riley's Testimony Was Contradictory and Unreasonable.

Riley, on cross-examination, admitted to using an alias of "Marquelius Tigger" in court documents. In fact, he attempted to convince the Chancery Court in Oktibbeha County, Mississippi that his real name was Marquelius Tigger. T. 168. Riley has, also, used aliases like "O.Peppy," "Bubba," and "Tupac." Riley, as Tigger, falsely stated in court documents that he was married to Terry Abdul Tigger (T. 169), that his mother was "Muriel" (T. 169), and that he had children. T.170. However, Riley admitted on the stand that he was not married, did not have children, and his mother was named Ethel. T.169-170). Riley even claimed in court documents that he told the officer who arrested him that his real name was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Devail Hudson was tried and convicted of the capital murder of Juanita Miller Bentore Riley, also testified in that case.

Riley also caused to be filed a document called "Statement of Relevant Facts" in which he described that on **August 18, 2001**, he noticed a group of guys standing at the corner of Northside Drive and Westside Drive. R. 84-90. Of course, here Riley contradicts himself with respect to the date of the incident. In any event, Riley described, next, the dispute over tennis shoes with Destiny Moore. But then added:

- Q You indicated, "After argument with the guy known as Destiny Moore, a non-co-defendant defendant summoned the authority off his cell phone"?
- A Yes, Sir.
- Q "That would identify as an Atlanta, Georgia residence"?
- A Yes, Sir. [p. 208]
- Q "And number to the non-residence of the mistaking residence known as Hoggens"?
- A Hagans.
- Q Hagans. By the way, who are you referring to as Hagans?
- A My cousin, Raphael Hagans.
- Q Okay. All right. That's the first I've heard of him. Is that the first time you have ever testified about him today?
- A Yes, Sir.

Id; T. 209.

Apparently here, Riley was describing himself as the "authority" who was attacked by the others to get him off his phone.

Riley, also, testified that he watched the suspects enter the back door while he was at the entrance to Lander's Trailer Park, the "X" at State's Exhibit 5. Clearly from the Exhibit, Riley would not have been able to see the Miller's back door. Detective Lott admitted that

between the entrance and the back door was a house which would have obstructed one's vision. T. 438.

Finally, Riley admitted that his capital murder case would not be resolved until he cooperated with the prosecution and testified against Turner (T.199), but that **if** law enforcement would release him, he would then tell all that he knew. T.215. At this point, however, Riley admitted that as to his role in the murder, the prosecution did not believe his testimony that he was not involved. T. 220. He also clarified at this point of his testimony that he was more familiar with Hudson and all the other guys than Turner, and he did not know Turner's name at the time of the incident. Id.

The trustworthiness of Riley's testimony was shaken to the core. No rational jury could believe that Riley was credible. As demonstrated, Riley's testimony was substantially impeached, unreasonable, and contradictory. In fact, Riley even conceded that law enforcement did not believe him relative to his personal involvement in the murder. Because of the nature of Riley's testimony, it could not have been considered substantial evidence. And without Riley, there was no evidence before the jury that Derrick Turner was present on the Miller's premises and knowingly participated in the murder of Juanita Miller. Therefore, this Court should reverse the conviction and discharge the Appellant.

## THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REJECTING THE DEFENSE'S IMPEACHMENT INSTRUCTION

Because the State admitted that its witness, Bentore Riley, was untruthful in his testimony and prior statements, Appellant's impeachment instruction should have been

granted.

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