#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DERRICK TURNER

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-0330

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

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

One of the guys said: There goes Bubba. I said: Y'all are going to get caught, in my mind. They were going to get the same thing done to them for killing the old lady.

Devail had changed clothes the second time I saw him after he went back into the old lady's house. Devail was wearing blue-colored clothes and changed into something different other – other than he robbed the house.

When Devail said he was going to kill the old lady, I had no doubt in my mind he would kill, but I wasn't around to see it. Devail was saying at the stop sign he didn't want to wear a particular shoe when he robbed the old lady. Destiny went to his house and got another pair of shoes. Riley made a second statement later that same day, after he learned that the one he identified as Derwin was actually the Appellant. In that statement, the Appellant told the officer:

On August 20th, 2001, Devail Hudson, Willie Prater, Destiny Moore, James Pastor, Demarcus Evans and [the Appellant] threatened me. Destiny Moore was wearing my gray Nautica shoes. They told me I was going to be the lookout for robbing the old lady at Reed and Westside. They said my shoes had already been there.

I didn't want to be the lookout. I was scared. Willie said to suck it up, stop being a bitch. Devail said: Let's go. And they all went into the old lady's house.

I did watch out for them, but I didn't want to. [The Appellant] was the first to run out, and he fell down.

They all later came out of the house and met up at Lander's Trailer Park. Then Devail went back to the house by himself. I saw him go in the back door as I went up the road. I didn't want to be around them anymore. I didn't want any cut from the money. I knew Devail was going to kill her.

The Appellant was located on 14 January 2002. The Appellant agreed to come to the police station and, while there, voluntarily made a statement. He stated that he was at work on the morning of 20 August 2001, having gone to work that morning at seven of the clock. He stated that he did not leave work until half past four of the clock that afternoon. He allowed that he might have been at the corner of Westside and Northside, behind the Miller's home, on the morning of the 20<sup>th</sup>, but if he was he could not recall who was there or even if he stopped. The officer checked into the Appellant's account and, finding that it was inaccurate in several respects, asked the Appellant to return to the station.

The Appellant corrected the name of his employer and again stated that he was working on 20 August 2001. When the Appellant finished this statement, the officer informed him that he

had not been working that day, that in fact he did not work for that employer until 11 September 2001. The Appellant then responded that he must have been sleeping on the morning of 20 August 2001. The Appellant left the police station. The Appellant was not arrested until after Willie Prater was arrested.

Lott also went to the area Riley claimed he was able to see the back of the Miller home.

Lott testified that he was able, from that place able to view the back door of the home.

Lott stated that he knew of four lies that Benetore Riley told him. He thought Riley lied about having called emergency services on the day of the murder, lied about having spoken to a policeman at the trailer park, initially lied about the Appellant's identity as "Derwin," and lied about his involvement as the "lookout." (R. Vol.5, pp. 394 - 450; Vol. 6, pp. 451 - 459).

Dina Addy was employed as a business manager at Hodges Construction in January of 2002. The Appellant's first day at work was 11 September 2001. Bentore Riley was also employed by the company and was working the same week the Appellant began employment with Hodges Construction. Riley and the Appellant worked together on the same job. A Derwin Ferguson was employed by the company as well. (R. Vol. 6, pp. 459 - 463).

The defense presented a case - in - chief, beginning with the testimony of the Appellant's mother. The Appellant's mother testified that the Appellant took her to Tupelo on the morning of 20 August 2001, leaving Starkville at about nine or a quarter past nine in the morning. The purpose of the visit was to visit the Appellant's sister. The Appellant was unemployed at the time and he filled out a job application while in Tupelo. The Appellant drove his mother back to Starkville, arriving there at a little past noon. She claimed that she recalled the date of the trip to Tupelo because people were talking about the murder of Mrs. Miller the next day at her place of employment.

The Appellant's mother admitted that she did not think about the date of the trip to Tupelo until some six months later, when the Appellant was arrested. She admitted that her daughter told her that the visit was on the 20<sup>th</sup> of August. She could not recall, though, where she was or what she was doing on certain dates, such as 11 September 2001, or on certain dates on which notorious homicides were committed in Oktibbeha County. She admitted that the Appellant's two front teeth were missing, that he was tall, skinny and light - colored. (R. Vol. 6, pp. 473 - 488).

A Shannon Williams testified. She stated that she was a shift leader at the restaurant in Tupelo which employed the Appellant's sister in August of 2001. She stated that she recalled that the Appellant's sister mentioned that her mother and the Appellant were coming to visit and that the Appellant needed a job. This occurred in August of 2001. Two people thought by Williams to have been the Appellant and his mother came into the restaurant, and the male filled out a job application. Williams did not speak with the person she thought was the Appellant and did not take the application from him. She never saw the person said to have been the Appellant again.

On cross-examination, the witness admitted that she could not say that the Appellant was the man who came into the restaurant. She could not say if the person said to have been the Appellant was in the restaurant on 20 August 2001. (R. Vol. 6, pp. 492 - 503).

The Appellant's sister testified. She stated that the Appellant and their mother came to Tupelo on 20 August 2001. The Appellant filled out an application for employment.

Applications for employment were kept ninety days. The witness admitted that they could be taken from the restaurant, filled out, and returned later, dating it with whatever date the applicant chose. No attempt to locate the application said to have been filled out by the Appellant was

made until he was arrested, which was some six months after Mrs. Miller's murder. The witness could not recall the date the Appellant was arrested, but she stated that she could recall the 20<sup>th</sup> of August 2001. She had no explanation as to why she did not contact the police department after her brother was arrested to inform the detective that the Appellant had been in Tupelo on 20 August 2001; she was not aware that the Appellant had told the detective that he was sleeping on 20 August 2001. (R. Vol. 6, pp. 505 - 519).

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT; WAS THE VERDICT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?<sup>1</sup>
- 2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING THE APPELLANT'S IMPEACHMENT INSTRUCTION?
- 3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING AN INSTRUCTION WHICH WOULD HAVE REQUIRED THE JURY TO ACQUIT THE APPELLANT WHERE THE ACCOMPLICE'S TESTIMONY WAS ALLEGEDLY IMPEACHED, UNREASONABLE OR SELF CONTRADICTORY?

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THAT THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT; THAT THE VERDICT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE
- 2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REJECTING THE APPELLANT'S IMPEACHMENT INSTRUCTION
- 3. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT INSTRUCTION D-8

We will respond to the Appellant's First and Fourth Assignments of Error in this response.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# 1. THAT THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT; THAT THE VERDICT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

In the First Assignment of Error, the Appellant contends that the evidence was insufficient to permit a reasonable juror to find the him guilty of the capital murder of Mrs.

Miller. The Appellant's argument in support of this claim is based entirely upon an attack on the credibility of Benetore Riley. In considering the Appellant's claim, we bear in mind the standard of review applicable to claims of this kind:

This Court must, with respect to each element of the offense, consider all of the eyidence-not just the evidence which supports the case for the prosecution-in the light most favorable to the verdict. Harveston v. State, 493 So.2d 365, 370 (Miss.1986); Callahan v. State, 419 So.2d 165, 174 (Miss.1982); Sadler v. State, 407 So.2d 95, 97 (Miss.1981). The credible evidence which is consistent with the guilt must be accepted as true. Spikes v. State, 302 So.2d 250, 251 (Miss. 1974). The prosecution must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. Hammond v. State, 465 So.2d 1031, 1035 (Miss. 1985); May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984); Glass v. State, 278 So.2d 384, 386 (Miss. 1973). Matters regarding the weight and credibility to be accorded the evidence are to be resolved by the jury, Neal v. State, 451 So.2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1984); Gathright v. State, 380 So.2d 1276, 1278 (Miss. 1980). We may reverse only where, with respect to one or more of the elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty. Harveston v. State, 493 So.2d 365, 370 (Miss. 1986); Fisher v. State, 481 So.2d 203, 212 (Miss. 1985).

Wetz v. State, 503 So.2d 803 (Miss. 1987).

The facts of the case at bar in support of the verdict, taken as true, together with all reasonable inferences therefrom, was that the Appellant and several others decided to break into the Miller home in order to steal whatever they found of interest. The plan specifically included a plan to kill "the old lady." This was in fact what these people did. There is simply no question but that there was a murder committed in the course of a robbery

The Appellant, though, would have this Court find that the testimony concerning his identity as one of those who committed this crime was not sufficiently established. It is said that Benetore Riley was an accomplice and that, as such, his testimony should have been received with great caution and suspicion. It is said that Riley's testimony was uncorroborated, unreasonable, contradictory and impeached, and that for those reasons the trial court should have granted a judgment of acquittal. In other words, according to the Appellant, the trial court should have effectively stricken Riley's testimony.

Riley's testimony was not uncorroborated. In his first statement to the police, Riley described the Appellant as being a "tall, skinny, black male with two front teeth missing." The Appellant's mother confirmed that the Appellant had two front teeth missing. The jury would have noted the Appellant's physical appearance. Riley's testimony was also corroborated by the fact that entry to the Miller home was gained through the very door he described. The detective also corroborated Riley's testimony as to what Riley could see from the location Riley said he occupied.

The Appellant claims that Riley could have obtained his information from the press or from other sources. It seems unlikely, though, that a physical description of the Appellant would have been reported in the press, or would have been otherwise generally known. In any event, the Appellant's point simply goes to the weight and credibility of Riley's evidence, and that is a matter for the jury to determine. *Nelson v. State*, 10 So.3rd 898 (Miss. 2009).

The Appellant then says that Riley's testimony was impeached. In this respect, the Appellant points out that there were discrepancies as to whether Riley rang emergency services on the day the murder occurred and whether Riley spoke to a police officer on the afternoon of that day, and whether Riley was frightened of the Appellant's group. While there were some

discrepancies in Riley's testimony, those were on tangential matters. Whether he did or did not call for help or speak to a policeman did not adversely affect his account of what he saw and heard just before the murder occurred. These matters were for the jury to consider. It cannot be said that no reasonable juror would have given no credit to Riley's testimony on account of these discrepancies. Again, these considerations went to the weight and worth of Riley's testimony. This Court will not re-weigh the testimony. *Spurlock v. State*, 13 So.3rd 301 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). It was for the jury to determine whether Riley's testimony was impeached to such an extent as to have no weight or worth.

The Appellant then contends that Riley's testimony was contradictory and unreasonable. This was so, according to the Appellant, on account of the Appellant's use of various aliases and his peculiar account of whether he was married and had children. The Appellant further points to the fact that Riley, in some document he wrote in 2004 or 2006, erroneously stated that the murder occurred two days prior to the date it actually occurred, and then points to some inconsequential statement concerning a telephone call with or to someone in Atlanta.

That the Appellant might make a small error as to the date of the murder some three to five years after the murder occurred is hardly shocking. As to the aliases and other personal misinformation the Appellant gave in court filings while he languished in jail, these in no way affected his account of what transpired on 20 August 2001. The business about a telephone call to Atlanta was as inconsequential. Again, the most that might be said for all of this is that it was a matter for the jury to consider when assessing what weight and worth to give to Riley's testimony. The testimony the Appellant gave concerning what occurred on the 20th of August 2001 was not impeached and was corroborated. It may be that the defense attempted to show that Riley could not have seen what happened at the house, but the State demonstrated that Riley

could have seen what he said he saw. That conflict was for the jury to resolve.

In the Fourth Assignment of Error, the Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in failing to grant a new trial on the claim that the verdict was contrary to the great weight of the evidence. The standard of review appurtenant to this claim is a familiar one. *See, e.g. Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997). In the case at bar, the verdict cannot be reasonably said to constitute an unconscionable injustice; consequently, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying relief on the motion for a new trial.

The Appellant first suggests that he was not involved in the murder of Mrs. Miller. He points to the testimony that Hudson re-entered the house and supposes that Miller was killed then. This specific point was not raised in the motions for a directed verdict (R., Vol. 6, pp. 464 - 471; 525 - 526). Since it was not, it cannot be asserted here. *Hoye v. State*, 1 So.3rd 946, 951 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009).<sup>2</sup>

Assuming this point is before the Court, there is no merit in it. In his first statement, Riley did indicate that Hudson re-entered the Miller home. Smoke was seen coming from the home afterwards. It would not have made much sense for there to have been a re-entry into the house if Mrs. Miller had not already been beaten with the iron, and thought to be dead or dying. It is highly unlikely that Mrs. Miller had been left undisturbed when the gang broke into her house and looted it. Had Mrs. Miller not been beaten during the first entry into the home, it is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The point may or may not have been raised in the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or for a new trial. To the extent, though, that the Appellant means to include this as reason to find that the trial court erred in refusing to grant a judgment of acquittal, this point may not be raised now since it was not raised in the motions for a directed verdict. It would be illogical to suppose that grounds for acquittal could be enlarged in the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. If so, then why have a rule regarding the necessity of specific grounds with respect to motions for a directed verdict?

difficult to imagine a reason why it would have been thought necessary to re-enter it and set it afire. The only purpose in re-entering the house would have been to set the fires in a pathetic attempt to disguise what had been done.

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